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Acknowledgement

ForestrySA acknowledges the Traditional
Owners of the land on which we work and
learn. We respect all Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples and their Elders, past,
present and future. In particular, we are mindful
of the traditions of the Kaurna, Peramangk,
Bunganditj (Boandik), Ngarrindjeri, Ramindjeri
and Ngadjuri peoples and their direct
connections to lands under our custodianship.

Ingalalla Falls and the area around Mount
Hayfield is one of the southernmost traditional
living places of the Kaurna People and forms
part of the Tjilbruke dreaming story. Tjiloruke
is a central creation ancestor of the Kaurna
People said to have been born above the falls.
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A message
from the Chair
and Chief Executive

On behalf of
the Board, we
present the
2024-25 Annual
Report, and
reflect on a year
of dedication,
resilience and

progress.

This report is submitted in accordance with the Public
Corporations Act 1993 and the South Australian Forestry
Corporation Act 2000.

This year holds special significance, as South Australia
celebrates 150 years of forestry — a milestone that
honours the deep-rooted legacy of our forests and their
vital role in shaping the State’s economy, environment,
and communities. From the first plantings in Bundaleer
to the present day, ForestrySA has remained committed
to growing a greener, more sustainable future.

We currently manage over 32,000 hectares of land
across the Mount Lofty Ranges and Green Triangle
regions, including more than 10,000 hectares of Radiata
Pine plantations and 16,000 hectares of Native Forest
Reserves. Our forest is certified under the Australian
Standard for Sustainable Forest Management, reflecting
our ongoing commitment to sustainability, innovation
and community service.

Commercial plantation management

This year brought its share of challenges. Record low
rainfall 30-40% below average, coupled with rising
temperatures, placed stress on our pine plantations.
Despite this, during the period we reduced net fallow
land by 25%, increased thinning activity by nearly 50%,
and planted 440,000 seedlings across 312 hectares.
Our seedling survival rate of 84% was pleasing given
the conditions. We also undertook remedial work to
stabilise younger plantations affected by storms.

Market conditions remained subdued, with a 30%

drop in total log sales. Even so, we maintained strong
relationships with local processors and noted early signs
of recovery in the preservation market. Despite the
difficult market conditions, the final comprehensive result
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is a profit of $4.663m due to an increase in the forest

valuation and significant improvements to the provision

required for workers compensation liabilities. This
profit will result in a dividend payable to government

Non-commercial operations

Beyond commercial forestry, our work continues
to enrich the lives of South Australians. In 2024-25,
we welcomed over 587,000 forest visitors, issued
7,500 recreational permits, and supported 373
community events. Highlights included the launch
of the Adaptive Mountain Bike Trail at Fox Creek,
the 10-year anniversary of Nature Play SA’'s Forest
Festival, and the Accessible Outdoor Program.

Our conservation efforts included working with
ecologists to monitor vulnerable species, planting
endangered orchids, and undertaking advanced
vegetation mapping and pest management to
protect native ecosystems. Volunteers gave over
7,700 hours of their time, contributing to trail
maintenance, flora surveys and citizen science. We
also deepened our engagement with Traditional
Owners through cultural initiatives like Walks on
Country and fire management discussions.

Looking ahead

As we honour 150 years of forestry in South
Australia, our focus remains firmly on the

future. Our refreshed strategic plan sets a clear
direction — one that embraces innovation,
resilience and sustainability. We're commmitted to
enhancing plantation productivity, supporting
research and upholding the highest standards in
environmental, social and governance practices.

/

Digital transformation

will play a key role in
modernising our operations,
helping us respond more
effectively to climate
variability, biosecurity

risks, and market shifts.

We extend our appreciation
to the Minister for Primary
Industries and Regional
Development and Minister
for Forest Industries, the
Hon. Clare Scriven MLC,

for her support, and to our
customers, contractors,
suppliers, volunteers and
the dedicated ForestrySA
team. Together, we're
shaping a future where
forestry continues to
deliver lasting economic,
environmental and social
benefits for South Australia.

o O

June Roache
Board Chair

7~ /V‘%

Chief Executive
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150 years of forestry
in South Australia

South Australia
proudly celebrates
a major milestone
In its history, as
2025 marks the
150th anniversary
of its forest and
timber industries.

From the first hectare of trees planted in 1875 in the
Bundaleer Forests in the Mid North, the State's industry
has grown to more than 170,000 hectares. It supports
thousands of jobs, including those that involve
processing the fibre that builds new homes, and
building the pallets that move the products we buy.

South Australia has long been at the forefront of
innovation and sustainable forest management. This
celebration marks a proud reflection of the industry’s
enduring success and its growing importance to the
State’s economic value chain, regional development
and environmental sustainability.

Plantation forests
are the foundation of

our State’s future.

Forestry has been building our nation for the
last 150 years. It is a critical industry for the
future and the next generation as we, as a
nation, work towards building new homes,
delivering a net-zero economy, replacing
fossil fuel-based plastics and exploring
opportunities in biofuels and bioenergy.
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About
ForestrySA

Our corporation

The South Australian Forestry Corporation
(ForestrySA) is a statutory corporation
with responsibility for managing public
plantation forests for commercial
production in line with best practice
standards for forestry operations and
environmental management, to maximise
value whilst ensuring the protection of
Aboriginal, environmental and social
values, and heritage.

In addition, our other functions are to:

1. Undertake directly or with industry
partners and, where appropriate
commercialise, forestry related
research for the benefit of the
Corporation and the State.

2. Maximise the value of the
Corporation whilst achieving other
key requirements of Government.

3. Deliver non-commercial operations
with a specific focus on:

a. Native forest management
b. Community use of forests

c. Community fire protection.
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Our strategic focus

Our strategic direction is centred

around three core pillars:

1.

Green Growth

ForestrySA will drive
economic growth

and innovation by
capitalising on our
carbon sequestration
capabilities, maximising
the use of our resource,
building circular
economy opportunities
and becoming a
partner of choice

for environmentally
sustainable enterprise in
the Mount Lofty Ranges.

2.

Future Focused

ForestrySA will undergo
a comprehensive

digital transformation,
leveraging technologies
to improve and protect
our forest operations,
community service
obligations and decision-
making processes.

&%l To be a sustainable and

resilient forest enterprise that §

contributes to the socio-economic

benefit of South Australia.

06 | ForestrySA Annual Report 2024-25

3.

Fostering Success

We will enhance our
organisational systems
and communications

to promote
cohesiveness, diversity
and collaboration,
encouraging new career
pathways that prioritise
creativity, innovation
and sustainability.




Our
governance

June
Roache

Board Chair
and Director

Board Chair, Audit and
Risk Committee Member

BAcc, GradCertMgt, FAICD, FCPA, FIML

Ms June Roache was appointed as Chair
and Board Director of ForestrySA on
1January 2018, having previously served
as a Board Member and Chair of the
Audit and Risk Committee.

Ms Roache is an independent non-
executive director with extensive
business experience, having held chief
executive roles and several governance
roles in South Australia, nationally and
internationally. Her experience extends
to commercial, statutory, regulatory
and not-for-profit organisations in the
gambling, financial services, health and
wellbeing, sports and arts sectors.

She is currently Presiding Member and
a Board Member of the South Australian
Superannuation Board and Presiding
Member and a Board Member of the
Southern Select Super Corporation.

Ms Roache has a Bachelor of Accounting
from the University of SA, a Graduate
Certificate in Management from Mt
Eliza Business School, and is a Fellow

of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors, CPA Australia and the Institute
of Managers and Leaders.

Grant
Pelton

Director

Board Member, Audit
and Risk Committee Member

BSc (Zoology Botany),
GradDip (Ecology Management)

Mr Grant Pelton was appointed
as a Director of ForestrySA on 9
August 2019 and is a member of
the Audit and Risk Committee.

Mr Pelton has worked in the Department
for Environment and Water (DEW) since
January 2004 and has two decades of
experience in multiple roles including
Fire & Emergency Management,

Special Projects, Visitor Services, Asset
Management, Compliance, Marine
Parks, Crown Lands, Pastoral Land
Management Protected Area Policy, and
the coordination of DEW's Volunteer
Support Programes.

Mr Pelton has been a member of
DEW'’s Executive and the DEW Agency
Security Executive, and represented
DEW on the State Emergency
Management Committee, the State
Bushfire Coordination Committee and
the State Recovery Committee. He has
also chaired DEW'’s Work Health and
Safety, Diversity & Inclusion and Capital
Investment Committees.

Mr Pelton is currently the Director,
Strategic Projects in the Office

of the Chief Executive and is
responsible for delivery of the 77
election commitments the State
Government has allocated to DEW.

Mr Pelton has a Bachelor of Science,
Zoology and Botany, and a Graduate
Diploma, Ecology and Management
from the University of Adelaide.
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Ric
Sinclair

Director

Board Member, Audit
and Risk Committee Chair

BSc (Forestry), MBA

Mr Ric Sinclair was appointed

as a Director of ForestrySA on
1January 2023 and is the Chair of
the Audit and Risk Committee.

Mr Sinclair worked in forest operations,
but soon found his passion in
communications, marketing and
strategy. For more than 13 years, Mr
Sinclair was Managing Director of Forest
and Wood Products Australia Limited,
the sector’s Research & Development
and marketing organisation,

where he delivered world leading
initiatives such as WoodSolutions

and The Ultimate Renewable™.

Mr Sinclair was previously Director of
the Gippsland Centre Against Sexual
Assault, Louise Multicultural Centre
and the Gottstein Education Trust.
He is currently Managing Director of
CarbonAbility Pty Ltd, which provides
advice on the development and
implementation of carbon offsetting
strategies for large corporations.

Mr Sinclair is currently the Independent
Chair of the Forestry Centre of
Excellence Board commencing

the role on 24 May 2025.

Mr Sinclair has a Bachelor of Science,
Forestry, from the Australian
National University and a Master of
Business Administration from the
University of British Columbia.
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Hayley
Neumann

Director

Board Member, Audit and
Risk Committee Member

BCom, CPA

Ms Hayley Neumann was appointed as
a Director of ForestrySA on 1January
2023 and is a member of the Audit
and Risk Committee. Ms Neumann
has worked as an accountant since
2005 and joined Sinclair Wilson in
2017, becoming a Principal in 2022.

Ms Neumann is an active member

of the business community, leading
the Mount Gambier Chamber of
Commerce as President for more

than three years. Ms Neumann is a
Certified Practicing Accountant (CPA)
and has a Bachelor of Commerce from
the University of South Australia.




Responsibilities
of the Board

The South Australian Forestry Corporation Board
(the Board) is the governing body of ForestrySA
and sets our strategic direction and corporate
policy. The Board has overall responsibility for the
corporate governance, direction and performance
of ForestrySA.

The Board provides leadership and support to
the Chief Executive in the exercise of general
management functions, and approves and
monitors performance against budgets, key
performance indicators and business strategies.

The Board is committed to the principles of
sound corporate governance, delegating
responsibility to the Chief Executive for
implementation of the strategic plan,
day-to-day business management and
ensuring all staff continue to work to
high ethical standards.

Business sustainability

ForestrySA markets and trades in
forest products and forest and land
mManagement services consistent

with the South Australian Forestry
Corporation Charter (the Charter). The
Board is committed to the long-term
sustainability of ForestrySA's business
activities, operations, land stewardship
and renewable forest resources, for the
benefit of South Australia.

Maintaining ForestrySA's
quality, environmental, safety
management systems and
Responsible Wood certification
in the Mount Lofty Ranges are
key priorities of the Board.
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Board meeting

attendance

Eligible for Meetings
July 2024 - June 2025 attendance attended
June Roache Board Chair 9 9
Grant Pelton Board Member 9 7
Ric Sinclair Board Member 9 9
Liz McKinnon Board Member until 6 6

31 December 2024

Hayley Neumann Board Member 9 9

During the year, no
benefit, apart from

an approved Board
remuneration, was
received by any member
of the Board from any
interest or involvement in
ForestrySA's operations
or activities.

In accordance with the
Public Corporations
Act 1993 (the Act), all
ForestrySA Directors
are required to disclose
full and accurate details
of direct or indirect
personal or pecuniary
interests in any matter
under consideration by
the Board.

A conflict of interest declaration is called at each Board
meeting, and any issues are regularly reviewed to ensure
full compliance with the Act. In 2024-25, the following
declarations were made:

— Grant Pelton, substantive role as Director
Strategic Projects, DEW, the Government agency
responsible for managing the State's parks and
reserves under the National Parks and Wildlife Act
1972, and the agency responsible for administering
Crown Lands Management Act 2009, declared
a potential conflict of interest in any decisions to
transition lands to these Acts and was removed
from considering or approving any decisions to
transition lands to these Acts.

— Liz McKinnon declared a potential conflict
of interest regarding forestry-related events
including water research relating to South
Australian matters and was removed from
considering or approving any related decisions.
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Audit and Risk
Committee

The Audit and Risk
Committee (the
Committee) has been
established to assist
the Board in fulfilling
its governance and
oversight responsibilities
in relation to financial
planning and reporting,
internal and external
audit, internal control
processes, risk
mManagement systems,
compliance, fraud
control and continuous
improvement.

Audit and Risk

This Committee is maintained by the Board as a
commitment to sound corporate governance and
to comply with the requirements of the Act. The
Committee operates under the Terms of Reference
approved by the Board.

The Board engaged Bentleys to provide the 2024-25
internal audit program that assists the Committee
and management in providing independent advice on
ForestrySA's business processes, internal controls and
risk management.

In addition, the Committee has responsibility for
reviewing ForestrySA's annual financial statements to
ensure that the statements represent a fair and true
view of the affairs of ForestrySA consistent with the
requirements of accounting standards and statutory
reporting requirements, and for providing the Board
with assurance of the reliability of financial information
and financial reports.

The Committee also liaises with the Audit Office of
South Australia (Audit SA) regarding the external audit
program and the resolution of matters arising from
annual and periodic audits.

Committee attendance

Eligible for Meetings
July 2024 - June 2025 attendance attended
Ric Sinclair Chair 5 5
June Roache Member from 1 2 2
January 2025
Grant Pelton Member 5 4
Hayley Neumann Member 5 5
Liz McKinnon Member until 31 3 3
December 2024
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South Australian Forestry
Corporation Charter

This Charter is prepared by the Minister for Primary
Industries and Regional Development and the
Treasurer following consultation with the South
Australian Forestry Corporation and in accordance
with Section 12 of the Public Corporations Act

1993. The document sets out the Government's
priorities and requirements for ForestrySA.

The Charter is available for
download via our website
at www.forestrysa.com.
au/about-us/corporate-
overview-strategic-
plan-charter/
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Our organisational structure

Hon. Clare Scriven MLC

Chair: June Roache

Tim Ryan
B.Econ

Chair: Ric Sinclair

Monique Blason

Michael Hanton
AssocDipAcct, BCom,
MBA, GAICD, FCPA

Peter Merry

BAppSci (NRM)
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2024-25:

Year in review




At a glance

Mount
Lofty
Ei Ranges
10,914 ha
available Radiata Pine Tﬁ;?g,‘e
(Pinus radiata) plantation
area, including standing 49013 ha
commercial plantations 312 ha Proclaimed Native
and clearfell sites planted in 2024-25 Forest Reserve
/\ .
S
1N
2,440 ha 3,629 ha 44 ha
natural features other land new plantation

land acquired

12,058 ha 352 ha 145 ha
Proclaimed Native natural features other land

Forest Reserve
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What we

Mount Lofty Mid Green
managed Ranges North Triangle Total
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3) hectares
Standing SA Water land 641 0 N/A 641ha
commercial
plantations Forestry SA land 9,521 0 0] 9,521
Proclaimed 4,013 0 12,058 16,071
Native Forest
Natural Reserve
features
estate Natural 2,440 0 352 2,792
features area
(Note 4)
Other 3,629 0] 145 3,774
(Note 5)
Proclaimed 19,603 0] 12,555 32,158

Forest Reserve

Note 1 Mount Lofty Ranges 873 hectares managed by ForestrySA as commercial forestry located on
SAWater land, of which 641 hectares is standing commercial plantation.
This area is not included in the Proclaimed Forest Reserve total.
Note 2 Mid North ForestrySA now has no management responsibility for any land in the Mid North region.
Note 3  Green Triangle 0.7 hectares of standing (non-commercial) plantation as a seed orchard, being
managed as part of the Warreanga Native Forest Reserve.
Note 4  Natural features area Includes Native Forest Reserve and other areas of conservation significance that are
not proclaimed as native forest.
Note 5  Other Includes all Proclaimed Forest Reserve that is not standing commmercial plantation or

natural feature estate (for example, includes depots or fire breaks).



Performance targets

Forest Assets Revaluation Increment

Notifiable incidents
— Environmental Protection Agency

Notifiable incidents
— Workplace Health & Safety

Lost time injuries (ForestrySA staff)

Maintain Responsible Wood
certification for the Mount Lofty
Ranges forest estate

Area of gazetted Native
Forest Reserve covered by
a management plan

Community fire protection
— callout response rate in local
Country Fire Service brigade zones

2024-25
target

Nil

0

Yes

100%

100%

2024-25
outcome

$1,543m

0

Yes

100%

100%
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Employee
demographics

® Women
® Men
@® Other

Casual

25%
Full time
62%
Part time

6% L. °

Board
6%
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Financial
highlights

Commercial revenue ($000s)
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20,000

15,000 ..

10,000 ... . .
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Commercial operating
profit ($000s)

2,500
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881

Total revenue ($000s)

30,000

FY25 FY24  FY23 Fy22 FY21

Comprehensive
result ($000s)

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

FY25 FY24 FY23 FY22

17,838
14,959

I (789)

FY21
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Plantation management

The ForestrySA managed commercial Radiata
Pine (Pinus radiata) estate consists of 10,914
hectares of plantation area in the Mount Lofty
Ranges region spread between three reserves
located at Mt Crawford, Kuitpo and Second Valley.

The public forest estate maintains a smaller profile
relative to the broader forestry industry, placing
significant responsibility on ForestrySA to ensure
effective management in a complex operating
environment. Our plantation management strategy
remains focused on optimising the cultivation and
harvesting of premium saw log grade products.

The long-established forest estate provides nine
South Australian log processors with access to
premium saw log and lower grade industrial

log. Forest products sustainably harvested from
the estate are placed into local supply chains
including structural housing grade timber, treated
timber for external use, industrial packaging
grade timber and pulp log supply chains for
horticultural, animal husbandry and landscaping
applications in the greater Adelaide market.

Plantation productivity declined for a second
year in 2024-25 due to record low annual
rainfall, 30-40% lower than long-term averages.
Elevated temperatures increased evaporation
and transpiration by 10% from November

2024 to April 2025. All age groups of plantings
were affected, with Second Valley and Mt
Crawford plantations suffering more severe
impacts than the Kuitpo reserve. This trend is
consistent with pressures realised by other forest
managers in south-eastern South Australia.
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Noteworthy plantation management
outcomes experienced or achieved
in 2024-25 included:

— 25% reduction in net fallow land in the
ForestrySA estate, returning clearfell
harvest areas back into production earlier.

— 49% increase in first thinning activity
promoting future development of
mid-rotation age plantations.

— Engaged specialist steep slope and motor
manual harvesting contractors to clearfell
mature plantations declining in productivity.

— Plantation establishment was hindered
by prolonged dry conditions and a
delayed season, but allowed more time
to harvest plantations on steep terrain.

— No notable biosecurity incursions detected.

— Observed low levels of sirex wood wasp
(Sirex noctilio) activity and associated
natural nematode presence.

— Plantation inspections and targeted
surveillance carried out by ForestrySA as part
of the metropolitan Adelaide Giant Pine Scale
(Marchalina hellenica) eradication response, did
not detect Giant Pine Scale on the forest estate.

— Plantations aged 2-3 years experienced elevated
levels of tree instability due to storm activity
during the winter and spring of 2024. To address
these issues and minimise potential long-term
impacts on affected sites, targeted remedial
measures were introduced in spring 2024.
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Planning and
production

ForestrySA has established a
resource planning program. It
is supported by investments
in features inventory and the
industry-standard growth
and yield modelling program.
Since implementation,
confidence in yield

modelling outputs has
increased.

Planning focused on
lower-productivity
harvesting activities, with
reduced outputs due

to decreased demand
for log products and
resource management
considerations.

Clearfell operations
were directed towards
mature plantations,
some of which require
non-conventional
harvesting resources.

Plantation thinning
concentrated on first
thinning treatments
for areas under
environmental
stress.

440,000

Radiata Pine (Pinus
radiata) seedlings

reestablished over 312 ha

108,000 m?

of log sold through
161 ha of clearfell and
240 ha of thinning

491 ha

of Radiata Pine
(Pinus radiata)
plantations fertilised

91 ha

chopper rolled,
reducing residue
burning by 29%

84%

seedling survival rate
(Mt Crawford 71%,
Kuitpo 90% and
Second Valley 91%)

Rainfall was
recorded at

30-40%
below long-term

averages throughout
2024-25



Market and sales outlook

Market conditions were challenging
throughout 2024-25. Premium structural
saw log sales retracted in late 2024, in an
already tight market, ending 21% lower
than 2023-24 volumes.

Activity in 2026 will be influenced

by a combination of external
economic factors. Driven by growth
in South Australia, national dwelling
commencements increased slightly
after a ten year low. There is cautious
optimism in the broader timber
market over the prospect of
improvement in 2026.

Our industrial log sales, including
machinable pulp log, were 42% lower
than 2023-24 volumes — the weakest
sales in many years. Customers sought
a combination of lower volumes

and lower grade log to continue to
curb input costs.

Total log sales
2024-25 (m3)

We experienced low mixed species
stumpage log sales for 2024-25, with a
forecast to strengthen in 2025-26.

The preservation market modestly
resumed late in the period, up from

zero activity in 2023-24. Sales uncertainty
is expected to persist for some time.

Overall log sales decreased
by 30% from 2023-24

Residue log markets have begun to open
up, driven by established customers
exploring new markets through
innovation and diversification.

Overall, log sales dropped 30% from
2023-24, remaining below the estate's
sustainable cut level.

2023-24 (m?) 2022-23 (m?)

Saw log 69,118 87,889 94,471
Industrial 19,759 47,405 41,362
Total log 88,877 135,304 135,833
Pulp log 17,329 17,952 3,710
Preservation 596 0 4,449
Total pulp 17,925 17,952 8,159
Other log 889 1,483 1,869
Total 107,691 154,739 145,861
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Environmental,

community and
cultural responsibilities

Forest visitation figures

Up °

U5

587,922 33,897 7,599
estimated total climbers at permits issued for
forest visits Treeclimb Kuitpo camping, horse riding

and adventure caving

b
Pavaral

4,800 248 125
visitor enquiries registered group activities community events
engaging 4,636 people with attendance of

13,200+ people

000

N ——
\J
69 100
school camps school day visits
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Community and
stakeholder engagement

Community use of the
Mount Lofty Ranges
forest reserves remained
consistent throughout
the year, with an
estimated total visitation
of over 587,000 recorded
via permit data, events,
group activities and
traffic counters.

Recreational permits
were issued for a range of
activities including more
than 6,600 camping
bookings, 734 hut nights
and a steady uptake

in horse riding and
fossicking.

Public engagement generated over 4,800 enquiries
including camping and accommodation, general
information requests and event-related questions.

The region hosted more than 125 events and 248
registered group activities, with notable events such

as the Adaptive MTB Trail Opening at Fox Creek Bike
Park, the 10-year anniversary of Nature Play SA's Forest
Festival and the ongoing Accessible Outdoor Program
delivered in collaboration with Bedford, SAWater,
National Parks and Wildlife Service and Nature Play SA.

In the Green Triangle region, community visitation

was stable during the year, with recreational permits
supporting over 1,000 participants and event
attendance exceeding 4,200 people. Cave diving
accounted for the highest number of permits issued,
totalling 710, followed by dry caving and horse riding.
Group activity registrations remained strong, particularly
through programs including Walking with the Seasons
with regional schools.
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ForestrySA engaged with more than 20 stakeholder
groups across various community, recreational

and cultural initiatives. Key partnerships included

a collaboration with Traditional Owners through
Reconciliation Action Plan initiatives, support for the
Koala Food Project and regular contributions from
Friends of Heysen Trail.

Relationships were maintained with multiple mountain
biking groups, recreational organisations such as
Walking SA and Bike SA and local community centres.

Noteworthy events included the South Australia
Ranger Association Run for Rangers, Trail Running SA
Winter Series events, competitive racing by the South
Australian Sled Dog Club and AusCycling's first gravel
race at Mount Crawford Forest, demonstrating the

region’s capacity to accommodate large-scale activities.

In the Green Triangle,
more than 20 groups
participated in research
and education programs
including Flinders
University, Adelaide
University, and Nature
Glenelg Trust, as well as
community organisations
such as Zoos SA, BirdLife
Australia and Friends

of Bool Lagoon. Citizen
science projects, such as
koala and orchid surveys,
took place alongside
regional schools and
local volunteers.
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Conservation
and biodiversity

Threatened species conservation
and habitat management

ForestrySA maintained its commmitment to protecting
threatened flora and fauna across its reserves. In
collaboration with the Adelaide Botanic Gardens,

over 100 nationally endangered White Beauty
Spider-orchids (Caladenia argocalla) were planted in
enclosures at Dewells and Little Mount Crawford Native
Forest Reserves. We also partnered with the Native
Orchid Society of South Australia to safeguard rare
orchid habitats during proposed harvesting operations
at Knott Hill. Two large colonies of the nationally
vulnerable Grey-headed Flying-fox were identified

for the first time at Knott Hill and Forties, prompting

collaboration with
expert ecologists to
monitor and manage
potential impacts from
plantation activities.
Additionally, bandicoot
diggings were reported
at Christmas Hill
Native Forest Reserve,
indicating ongoing
habitat use by this
threatened species.
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Vegetation mapping
and planning initiatives

Vegetation community mapping progressed
significantly, with major survey work
completed in Mount Crawford, and nearing
completion in the Kuitpo and Second

Valley areas. This data is being integrated
into updated forest management plans.

These efforts provided ForestrySA with

a more comprehensive understanding

of the location and significance of key
ecological assets, helping to prioritise
future management actions. Flora and
fauna databases for the Mount Lofty
Ranges were also updated, consolidating all
available ecological information to support
strategic planning and enhance biodiversity
management across the forest estate.

Pest and weed control programs

ForestrySA supported extensive pest
animal control operations, including the
Department of Primary Industries and
Regions and Landscape SA led South
Australian Feral Deer Eradication Program.

Aerial culling in Mount Bold, Second Valley
and Mount Crawford resulted in the removal
of 1,446 feral deer and 28 goats. Volunteer
shooters contributed 452 hours, controlling an
additional 170 deer, 24 goats and 15 sheep. In
the Green Triangle, 1,137 deer were removed.

Weed control efforts targeted invasive species
such as blackberry, buckthorn and lavatory
creeper, with contractors and volunteers
addressing infestations across multiple
reserves. These actions were complemented
by emerging weed surveillance and seasonal
planning for the 2025-26 program.
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Volunteer
programs

ForestrySA conducted

a number of programs
in the Mount Lofty
Ranges that delivered
outstanding volunteer
outcomes, with over
2,600 hours contributed
across a diverse range
of activities.

T

Volunteers supported pest management, flora surveys,
seed collection and recreational trail maintenance
and construction. Key contributors included Friends
of the Forest, multiple mountain biking groups,
educational institutions such as Urrbrae TAFE and
work experience students. Notable efforts included
over 1,100 hours dedicated to botanical surveys and
weed control, and more than 700 hours toward trail
care and maintenance. Despite reduced activity
during the fire season, trail care groups like Fox Trail
Care and Inside Line Downhill MTB Club remained
active, and the Koala Food Project continued to
benefit from dedicated community support.

Over 7,000 volunteer hours

delivered through the community

engagement program.

The Green Triangle benefitted from significant
volunteer contributions, with over 4,600 volunteering
hours recorded across 3,000 individuals, including
students, researchers and community members,
actively involved in projects. Key activities included flora
and fauna monitoring, seed collection, acoustic and
camera-based wildlife surveys and heritage site visits.
Partnerships supported ongoing research into species
such as the Southern Bent-wing Bat, Red-tailed Black
Cockatoo and the endangered Earless Worm-lizard.
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Community
sponsorship

ForestrySA offers annual
sponsorships for projects,
programs and events
that promote forestry,
recreation, conservation
and sustainable forest
management.

By supporting organisations and events aligned with
these values, we increase organisational awareness
and foster community engagement, education and
recreational activity in South Australian forest reserves.

Sponsorship highlights

— Sponsorship and support for the 2024 Forestry
Australia conference in Ballarat, and in preparation
for the Adelaide conference in 2025.

— Logs and decorative trees supplied for the
Adelaide Equestrian Festival.

Logs supplied for the Royal Adelaide Show
woodchopping competition.

— Partnered with RADL GRVL, Nature Play SA, SA
Endurance Riders, Gravity Girls and Inside Line
MTB Club in support of community events.
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Reconciliation Action Plan

ForestrySA reinforced its commitment
to reconciliation by engaging with
Traditional Owners and progressing
actions identified in our Reconciliation
Action Plan. Early in the year, staff
participated in a Walk on Country with
Peramangk community members

to foster stronger partnerships and
develop a deeper understanding

of the land we work on.

We also welcomed members of
Kaurna Firesticks at Kuitpo to identify
opportunities for cultural burning at
Chookarloo and Meadows Flat, and
engaged in discussions regarding a
potential trial.

A significant achievement was the
completion and submission of an
‘Innovate’ Reconciliation Action Plan
to Reconciliation Australia, which
will guide the future direction of
our Reconciliation initiatives.

In the Green Triangle, ongoing
collaboration with Burrandies Aboriginal
Corporation and the Landscape Board
in Mount Gambier facilitated the
identification and management of
cultural values, including consultation
regarding a notable rock shelter site.
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Annual works program

We delivered a comprehensive
works program aimed at improving
visitor experience, safety and
accessibility across forest reserves.

Key achievements included completing
the annual and fire season works
programs, installing surveillance cameras
and upgrading trail infrastructure

such as re-routes on the Heysen,

Bone Gully and Devils Gully trails.

We completed the Chookarloo
entrance upgrade and installed new
signage at key sites including Fox
Creek Bike Park, Bells Gully and The
Avenues Picnic Area. Enhancements
were made to visitor amenities across
the estate through solar lighting,
toilet maintenance, updated signage
and native vegetation plantings.

In the Green Triangle, we delivered a
visitor management program, guided
by the Memorandum of Administrative
Agreement works plan developed

with DEW. Here, our maintenance
efforts focused on high-use recreation
sites with seasonal priorities including
mowing, signage repairs and
infrastructure upkeep at locations

such as Lake Edward, Dry Creek and
Honan's boardwalks. DEW rangers

and fire crews maintained trails and
facilities during peak periods, while
targeted actions addressed issues like
vandalism. Improvements included a
new barrier and signage at Lake Edward
to deter unauthorised vehicle access and
safety improvements to boardwalks.

Despite temporary closures at some
cave sites, all accessible areas were
maintained to a high standard.



Fire management

ForestrySA fulfilled its fire commitments
during the 2024-25 fire season.

The Country Fire Service declared Fire
Danger Season in the Mount Lofty
Ranges began two weeks earlier than
expected and closed two weeks later
than expected in 2024-25. This was due
to the drought affecting South Australia
in 2024-25.

The season aligned to forecast warmer
and drier conditions. Fire risk level
persisted at a higher than normal level
for the duration of the season. Bushfire
activity in the Mount Lofty Ranges was
restricted to relatively few fire incidents,
with a below average number of
incidents on or threatening ForestrySA
managed forest reserves.

Prescribed burning did not occur

in the Mount Lofty Ranges through
2024-25 due to unfavourable conditions.
These included the prevailing drought
and unacceptable risk levels both
operationally, and the program'’s
potential impact to native vegetation
communities already under enormous
drought stress.

1,138 ha

of fire breaks
treated

o 100%
— attendance to
- _p fires in primary

dispatch zone

&

46 km

of fire break
pruned

21
fire incidents
attended

01

prescribed
‘ burning event, in

~ the Green Triangle,
assisting DEW

O ha

of commercial
plantation loss
due to fire

during 2024-25
(compared to a
10-year rolling
average of

14.3 ha of annual
plantation loss)
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Forest research

ForestrySA is dedicated to supporting the national
forestry industry and conservation initiatives by

supporting a variety of collaborative research projects.

This commitment reflects our ongoing dedication to
innovation and advancement within the sector.

Key initiatives in 2024-25 included:

Ongoing participation in industry research
programs coordinated by Forest and
Wood Products Australia Limited.

Ongoing sponsorship of multiple genetic
gain trials at Mount Crawford Forest
(Dickers Plantation) to identify progeny
best suited to drier areas, in partnership
with Tree Breeding Australia.

Water flow modelling (Second Valley) in
conjunction with La Trobe University and
Hills and Fleurieu Landscape Board.

Giant Pine Scale Response Group, advancing
management approaches targeting
eradication in metropolitan Adelaide.

Joint site visits with DEW confirmed
extant populations of the Clustered Daisy-
Bush (Olearia suffruticosa), a proposed
Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999 listed species, at
revegetation sites in the Green Triangle.

Ongoing collaborations with Zoos SA, Birdlife
Australia and Nature Glenelg Trust supported
habitat monitoring for the Red-tailed Black
Cockatoo and Southern Bent-wing Bat.

Citizen science initiatives promoting ecological
awareness and community stewardship,
including acoustic bird monitoring and orchid
surveys, engaged local schools and volunteers.
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Sustainable
forest
certification

ForestrySA continues to
be strongly committed
to the economic,
environmental and social
aspects of sustainable
forest production.

Our Forest Management
System is certified by
Responsible Wood's
Australian Standard

for Sustainable Forest
Management

(AS/NZS 4708:2021),
which requires
compliance with
internationally accepted
criteria. This ensures
protection of Aboriginal,
heritage, social and
environmental values
during commercial
harvest, plantation
establishment and
Mmaintenance operations.

More information about
our certification and
policy for Sustainable
Forest Management is
available via our website,

at Wwvv.forestrysa.com.
au/forest-management



https://www.forestrysa.com.au/forest-management/
https://www.forestrysa.com.au/forest-management/

Supplementary
reporting items

Workplace health,
safety and return
to work

ForestrySA is dedicated to maintaining a safe,
healthy, and inclusive environment for all. Our
commitment to continuous improvement ensures
that our workforce is equipped to deliver services
safely and professionally.

Safety is a shared responsibility, with leaders
overseeing the implementation of high standards
and each employee contributing to a positive
safety culture. ForestrySA leaders actively
monitors and reports on safety, engaging in clear
communication with stakeholders.

An integrated incident and hazard
mManagement system ensures thorough
handling of all incidents and hazards.
Regular evaluations by the Board promote
accountability and continuous improvement
in workplace safety.




Workplace health, safety and return to work programs

Program name

Performance

ForestrySA Contractor
Management System

The Rapid Global contractor management system and
LOGR delivery system enhance safety and compliance
by providing thorough reporting, auditing and
monitoring of vehicle standards.

ForestrySA Log Haulage
Requirements

All log haulage trucks are equipped with essential
safety features specific to log transportation, with
compliance monitored through the LOGR and Rapid
Global systems.

ForestrySA Employee
Wellbeing

ForestrySA has implemented proactive measures
through the Employee Assistance Program such
as wellbeing assessments and health initiatives,
to protect staff who regularly engage with the
community and may face elevated risks.

Work Health & Safety
Committee

The committee meets regularly to discuss
staff safety concerns and supports the
ongoing development and monitoring of
ForestrySA's safety management system.

Workplace injury claims

Workplace injury claims

2024-25 2023-24

Total new workplace injury claims' 4 2

Fatalities

Seriously injured workers?

Serious injuries

Where lost time exceeds a working

week, expressed as per worker

" Includes all new claims, regardless of acceptance, deferment or withdrawal.

2 Number of claimants assessed during the reporting period as having a whole person impairment of 30% of more
under the Return to Work Act 2014 (Part 2 Division 5). Assessments from current period may include historic claims.
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Work Health and Safety regulations

Work health and safety regulations 2024-25 2023-24 % change

Number of notifiable incidents 0 0 0
WHS Act 2012, Part 3

Number of provisional improvement, 0 0 0
improvement and prohibition notices

WHS Act 2012, Sections 90, 191 and 195

Return to work costs

Work health and safety regulations 2024-25 2023-24
Income support payments — gross ($) 53184 42,563
Total gross workers compensation expenditure ($) 86,536 67,431

3 Includes income support payments.
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Corporate

performance Employment

summary opportunities

ForestrySA consistently 24 employees were recruited during the 2024-25
upheld fair and period. These included 19 seasonal/firefighting
equitable practices personnel, 3 in the community services group,

across recruitment 2 in management roles, and one procurement and
and performance contracts role. Of these, two roles were new positions.

development processes.

Agency performance management
and development systems

Performance management Performance
and development system

Bi-annual staff performance reviews A total of 37 staff (92.5%) completed
reviews during 2024-25

Agency performance management
and development systems

Executive classification

Number
Exec A 3
Exec B 1
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Consultants disclosure

The number of consultants and the dollar amount paid/payable
(included in supplies and services expense) to consultants fell
within the following bands:

2025 2024 2025 2024

number number $'000 $'000

Below $10,000 2 1 N 14
$10,000 or above 2 5 32 16
Total consultants 43 30
Contractors disclosure 2025 2024
$'000 $'000

Log harvesting 3,554 3,621

Log transport 2,670 3,080

Inter governmental 1,122 1147
Project expenditure* - 865
Other contractors 2,049 2,362
Total contractors 9,395 11,076

4 Remediation of Giant Pine Scale on other land owners land (2024). All costs recovered from land owners.

Fraud detected Strategies implemented to

in the agency control and prevent fraud

During 2024-25 there were ForestrySA has a zero tolerance to fraud and corruption
no suspected, alleged or and has implemented a number of strategies and
actual instances of fraud controls to prevent fraud.

to report.
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Strategies and controls to prevent fraud

Financial controls

Financial Management Compliance Program that addresses
compliance of ForestrySA’s controls for income, expenditure,
assets and liabilities, and budgeting and reporting.

Investigation of all allegations of fraud.

Annual attestation overseen by the Chief Executive
and senior leadership team in relation to adherence
to the ForestrySA Compliance Register.

Communications

Adoption of the South Australia Public Sector Fraud and
Corruption Control Policy.

Adoption of the Code of Ethics for the South Australian
Public Sector.

Regular communication and encouragement for
staff to report and act on any suspected fraud or
corruption concerns.

Annual declarations (covering fraud, corruption and conflicts
of interest) signed by all relevant staff.

Related party transaction declarations signed annually by key
management personnel, including Board members.

Declarations by Management Team members at monthly
meetings on whether any members have fraud concerns
or suspicions.

Audit and Risk
Committee

Assessment of the likelihood of fraud risk conducted at
least quarterly.

Fraud and Corruption Report reviewed quarterly.

Review and evaluation of the effectiveness of internal
controls, conducted annually.

Review of financial management governance and corporate
policy documents conducted annually.

ForestrySA responds to external (Audit SA) audit process
requests and subsequent report findings.

Risk

Maintenance of a Corporate Risk Register, reviewed
regularly and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee
at least quarterly.

Implementation of an ongoing risk treatment program.

Ongoing internal audit program, including periodic
examination of the risks of fraud.

42 | ForestrySA Annual Report 2024-25



Public interest
disclosure Public feedback recorded

On no occasion

during 2024-25 Metrics Total
was public interest o
information disclosed Number of positive feedback comments 0
tothe FgrestrysA Number of negative feedback comments 17
responsible officer
under the Public Interest Total number of feedback comments 17
Disclosure Act 2018.

Percentage of complaints resolved within 94%

policy timeframes

Service improvement

ForestrySA received 17 complaints
during the 2024-25 financial year. Of
these, 16 were able to be resolved within
the relevant policy timeframes.

In line with PCO39: Complaint
Management in the South Australian
Public Sector, ForestrySA continues to
assess and monitor complaint trends
to drive service improvements and
enhance customer satisfaction.

Service improvements implemented
over the year included:

— Ongoing operational engagement
with neighbouring landholders
regarding activities such as
harvesting and spraying to address
neighbour related concerns.

— Evaluation of the online
booking system is ongoing.

— De-escalation and conflict resolution
training identified for frontline
staff handling complaints.
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Compliance statement

ForestrySA is compliant
with Premier and Cabinet
Circular 039 — complaint
management in the South
Australian public sector

ForestrySA has communicated
the content of PC 039 and the

agency'’s related complaints
policies and procedures to
employees

Photography credits
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Pages 44 - 45
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Chris Handler Photography
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

iy,

Level 9

State Administration Centre
200 Victoria Square
Adelaide SA 5000

Tel +618 8226 9640
ABN 53 327 061 410

enquiries@audit.sa.gov.au
www.audit.sa.gov.au

To the Chair of the Board
South Australian Forestry Corporation

Opinion

| have audited the financial report of the South Australian Forestry Corporation (the
Corporation) for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Corporation as at 30 June 2025, its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with relevant Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the
provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report comprises:

. a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2025

. a Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2025

. a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2025

. a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2025

. notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information

. a Certificate from the Chair, Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer.

Basis for opinion

| conducted the audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report’ section of
my report. | am independent of the Corporation. The Public Finance and Audit Act 1987
establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. In conducting the audit, the relevant
ethical requirements of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
Independence Standards) have been met.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.



Responsibilities of the Chief Executive and members of the Board for the
financial report

The Chief Executive is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with relevant Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions
of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and the Australian Accounting Standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Chief Executive is responsible for assessing the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Chief Executive is also responsible for disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting, unless the assessment indicates that it is not appropriate.

The members of the Board are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

As required by section 31(1)(b) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and section 32(4) of
the Public Corporations Act 1993, | have audited the financial report of the Corporation for
the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control



. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Chief Executive

. conclude on the appropriateness of the Chief Executive’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion.

My conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease to continue
as a going concern

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

My report refers only to the financial report described above and does not provide assurance
over the integrity of electronic publication by the entity on any website nor does it provide
an opinion on other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the report.

| communicate with the Chief Executive and members of the Board about, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that | identify during the audit.

2

Daniel O’'Donohue
Deputy Auditor-General

24 September 2025
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South Australian Forestry Corporation

Certification of the 2024-25 Financial Statements

We certify that the:

. financial statements of the South Australian Forestry Corporation (ForestrySA):

- are in accordance with the accounts and records of ForestrySA,;

. comply with the relevant Treasurer's Instructions;

- comply with relevant Australian accounting standards; and

& present a true and fair view of the financial position of ForestrySA at the end of the financial year

and the results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year.

. internal controls employed by ForestrySA for the financial year over its financial reporting and its

preparation of financial statements have been effective.

—

-

Tim Ryan
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN FORESTRY CORPORATION

5

e d

June Roache
CHAIR

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN FORESTRY CORPORATION

Date /7 September 2025
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Michael Hanton
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN FORESTRY CORPORATION



South Australian Forestry Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2025

1 About the South Australian Forestry Corporation
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South Australian Forestry Corporation

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024

Note $'000 $'000
Income
Sales - timber products 3.1 12,872 17,202
Revenues from SA Government 3.2 4,921 5,664
Interest 3.3 923 878
Other income 35 1,116 1,200
Total income 19,832 24,944
Expenses
Employee related expenses 4.1 5,773 5,628
Contractors 4.2 9,395 11,076
Materials 371 446
Equipment and vehicle costs 589 512
Council rates 292 289
Depreciation and amortisation 55/5.8 1,261 1,169
Borrowing costs 4.4 1 7
Net loss from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 34 10 2,258
Community projects 4.6 - 860
Other expenses 4.5 1,333 2,677
Total expenses 19,025 24,922
Trading profit/{loss) before revaluation of non-current assets 807 22
Net change in value of forest assets 59 1,543 (6,476)
Net revaluation increment of other non-current assets - 335
Profit/{loss) before income tax equivalent 2,350 (6,119}
Income tax equivalent expense 242 -
Profit/{loss} after income tax equivalent 2,108 (6,119)
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Changes in land revaluation surplus 2,555 2,748
Changes in property, plant and equipment asset revaluation surplus - 2,582
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to net result when specific conditions are met
Gains or losses recognised directly in equity - -
Total other comprehensive income 2,555 5,330
Total comprehensive result 4,663 (789)

The accomponying notes form part of these finoncial statements. The net resuit and total comprehensive result are attributable to the SA Government as

cwner,



South Australian Forestry Corporation

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2025

— 2025 2024
$’000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.1 20,144 24,387
Receivables 5.2 3,894 2,565
Inventories 5.3 71 202
Forest assets 59 8,602 9,977
Total current assets 32,711 37,131
Non-current assets
Forest assets 59 110,084 107,165
Property, plant and equipment 5.5 58,495 56,116
Total non-current assets 168,579 163,282
Total assets 201,290 200,412
Current liabilities
Payables 6.2 904 3,534
Financial liabilities 6.1 - 61
Employee related liabilities 6.3 536 524
Other provisions 6.4 284 113
Other liabilities 6.5 479 464
Total current liabilities 2,203 4,696
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 6.1 - 24
Employee related liabilities 6.3 869 764
Other provisions 6.4 319 1,386
Other liabilities 6.5 1,917 2,222
Total non-current liabilities 3,105 4,396
Total liabilities 5,308 9,092
Net Assets 195,982 191,320
Equity
Retained earnings 26,580 26,015
Other reserves 169,402 165,305
Total Equity 195,982 191,320

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. The net result and total comprehensive result are attributable to the SA Government as
owner.



South Australian Forestry Corporation

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025

T Forest assets Retained
Note revaluation X Total Equity

surplus reserve earnings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Balance at 1 July 2023 48,118 118,642 25,349 192,108
Net result for 2023-24
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of land 5.5 2,748 - - 2,748
Gain/loss on revaluation of plant and equipment 5.5 2,582 - - 2,582
Profit/(loss) after income tax equivalent - - (6,119) (6,119)
Transfer between equity components (309) (6,476) 6,785 -
Transactions with SA Government as owner
Equity contribution received - - - -
Equity contribution repaid . = - n
Dividends paid - - - =
Balance at 30 June 2024 53,139 112,166 26,015 191,320
Net result for 2024-25
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of land 5.5 2,555 5 - 2,555
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - - - -
Profit/(loss) after income tax equivalent - - 2,108 2,108
Total comprehensive result for 2024-25 2,555 - 2,108 4,663
Transfer between equity components - 1,543 (1,543) -
Transactions with SA Government as owner
Equity contribution received = = " =
Equity contribution repaid - - - -
Dividends paid = g Z =
Balance at 30 June 2025 55,694 113,709 26,580 195,082

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. The net result and total comprehensive result are attributable to the SA Government as owner.



South Australian Forestry Corporation

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024
Note

$'000 $’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash inflows
Receipts from customers 15,155 22,139
Receipts from SA Government 4,314 5,146
Interest received 928 872
GST recovered from the ATO - 597
Other receipts - -
Cash generated from operations 20,397 28,753
Cash outflows
Employee related expense payments (5,656) (5,414)
Payments for supplies and services (17,473) (14,852)
Community Projects - (860)
Interest paid (1) (7)
GST paid to the ATO (329)
Other payments - -
Cash used in operations (23,459) (21,134)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 7.2 (3,062) 7,619
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash inflows
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment - 88
Cash outflows
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,115) (2,278)
Cost on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) -
Cash used in investing activities (1,125) (2,278)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (1,125) (2,190)
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash inflows
Proceeds from borrowings - 21
Cash outflows
Repayment of leases (56) (320)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (56) (300)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,243) 5,130
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 24,387 19,258
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 51/7.2 20,144 24,387

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

1

1.1

About the South Australian Forestry Corporation

The South Australian Forestry Corporation (ForestrySA) was established under the South Australian Forestry
Corporation Act 2000 on 1 January 2001. ForestrySA is subject to the provisions of the Public Corporations Act 1993,

Key responsibilities of ForestrySA are to:

. Manage state-owned plantation forests for commercial production in line with best practice standards for
forestry operations and environmental management;

. Support regional resource protection initiatives and programs;

. Support the concept of environmental sustainability which assists in the protection of natural assets and
market accessibility; and

. Support cooperative research activities within the forestry industry.

Green Triangle agency agreement

The SA Government retains obligations in the Green Triangle region as stipulated under the Operations Deed related
to the South Australian Plantation Lease Agreement with OneFortyOne Plantations Pty Ltd (OFQ). These include
native forest management, community use of forests, community fire protection and forest industry support
activities performed by ForestrySA on behalf of SA Government under a Memorandum of Administrative
Arrangement {MoAA) for delivery of Community Service Obligations (CS0).

Dividend payments

Pursuant to Section 30 of the Public Corporations Act 1993 (SA), ForestrySA must, before the end of each financial
year, recommend by writing to the Treasurer, that ForestrySA pay a dividend (or not pay a dividend) for that financial
year, as ForestrySA considers appropriate.

In the event ForestrySA makes an accounting profit after adjusting for changes in the value of the forest asset it is
required to pay a dividend to SA Government.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements prepared in compliance with:

. section 23 of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 ;

. Treasurer's instructions and Accounting Policy S$tatements issued by the Treasurer under the Public Financial
Audit Act 1987 and;

. relevant Australian Accounting Standards.

For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, ForestrySA is a for-profit entity. The financial statements are
prepared based on a 12 month reperting period and presented in Australian currency. The historical cost convention
is used unless a different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured,

All amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes are rounded to the nearest thousand dallars
($’000).



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

1.2

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST) except:

. when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation
Office (ATO), in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense item applicable; and

. receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating
cash flows.

Assets that are to be sold, consumed or realised as part of the normal operating cycle have been classified as current
assets. Liabilities that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period or for which
ForestrySA has no right to defer the settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
classified as current liabilities. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

Tax Equivalent Payments are required to be paid by ForestrySA to the Treasurer, in accordance with Treasurer’s
Instruction 22, if an an accounting profit after adjusting for changes in the value of the forest asset is achieved.
When applicable, an income tax equivalent is calculated as 30% of accounting profit before tax, adjusted for forest
assets revaluation gains or losses and after deducting any approved forest operating costs which have been
capitalised to the forest assets. Land revaluation increments included in Comprehensive Income are also excluded
from tax calculations.

Segment reporting

For management purposes ForestrySA is organised into two segments. The reportable segments are:
. Commercial: plantation operations, other commercial activities, establishment activities and all overheads.
. Non-commercial: community service obligations performed for the SA Government under ForestrySA's Charter.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Statement of Comprehensive Income by Operating Segment
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Commercial Non-Commercial Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000
Income
Sales - timber products 12,872 17,202 B - 12,872 17,202
Revenues from SA Government (1) 872 4,922 4,791 4,921 5,664
Interest 923 878 - . 923 878
Other income 1,116 1,200 - - 1116 1,200
Net gain from the disposal of property, plant and - - - - i -
Total income 14,910 20,152 4,922 4,791 19,832 24,944
Expenses
Employee related expenses 4,234 4,111 1,539 1,517 5,773 5,628
Contractors 7,993 9,661 1,402 1,415 9,395 11,076
Depreciation and amortisation 985 893 276 276 1,261 1,169
Materials 349 423 23 23 371 446
Equipment and vehicle costs 465 367 123 145 589 512
Council rates 292 289 - . 292 289
Community projects - - B 860 - 860
Other expenses (227) 1,262 1,560 1,416 1,333 2,677
Net loss from the disposal of property, plant and 10 2,258 - - 10 2,258
equipment
Barrowing costs 1 7 - = 1 7
Total expenses 14,103 19,271 4,922 5,651 19,025 24,922
Trading profit/(loss) before revaluation of non-current assets 807 881 - (860) 807 21
Net change in value of forest assets 1,543 (6,476) - - 1,543 (6,476)
Net revaluation decrement of other non-current assets - 335 - - - 335
Net result before income tax equivalent 2,350 (5,260) - (860) 2,350 (6,119)
Income tax equivalent expense 242 - - - 242 -
Net result after income tax equivalent 2,108 (5,260) - (860) 2,108 (6,119)

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in land revaluation surplus 2,555 2,748 - - 2,555 2,748
Changes in property, plant and equipment asset - 2,582 - - - 2,582

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to net result - - - = - -
when specific conditions are met

Gains or losses recognised directly in equity - - - v = -
Total other comprehensive income 2,555 5,330 - - 2,555 5,330
Total comprehensive result 4,663 70 - (860) 4,663 (789)

10



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

1.3

2.1

Significant transactions with SA Government related entities

Significant transactions with the SA Government are identifiable throughout this financial report.
Notably:

. ForestrySA receives funding from the SA Government for the provision of certain non-commercial operations.
These are the Community Service Obligations (CSOs):
1. Native forest management,
2. Community use of forests,
3. Community fire protection.

. Lease payments relate to vehicles supplied by Fleet SA.

° Funding for use of the Government Radio Network (GRN).

. MoAA with Department for Environment and Water (DEW) for the sub-contracting of land and fire
management requirements in the Green Triangle region.

Board, committees and employees

Key management personnel

Key management personnel of ForestrySA include the Minister for Primary Industries and Regional Development and
Minister for Forest Industries, the Board, committee members, the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer, General
Manager Commercial Operations and General Manager Community Services. Total compensation for key
management personnel for 2024-25 was $940,000 (2023-24: $880,000).

The compensation disclosed in this note excludes salaries and other benefits the Minister receives. The Minister’s
remuneration and allowances are set by the Parliamentary Remuneration Act 1990 and the Remuneration Tribunal
of SA respectively and are payable from the Consolidated Account under section 6 the Parliamentary Remuneration
Act 1990.

2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Compensation
Salaries and other short term employee related expenses 940 793
Post-employment benefits - 87
Total 940 880

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties

ForestrySA did not enter into any transactions with key management personnel or their close families during the
financial year.

it



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2.2

3.1

Board and committee members
Members during the 2024-25 financial year were:

Board Audit and Risk Committee

J. Roache (Chair) 1. Roache (from 01-01-2025)
G. Pelton* G. Pelton*

R. Sinclair R. Sinclair (Chair)

L. McKinnon*? (to 31-12-2024) L. McKinnon*» (to 31-12-2024)
H. Neumann H. Neumann

*|n accordance with the Department of the Premier and Cabinet Circular No. 016, SA Government employees did not
receive any remuneration for board/committee duties during the financial year.

*A | McKinnon was in an SA Government role until 22-12-2023 and in accordance with the Department of the
Premier and Cabinet Circular No. 016, as a SA Government employees did not receive any remuneration for
board/committee duties up to this date. Following this she was remunerated in accordance with the Boards and
Committees remuneration framework.

Board and committee remuneration 2025 2024
5’000 $'000

The number of members whose remuneration received or receivable falls within the

following bands:

50 1 i

$1-519,999 1 2

$20,000 - $39,999 1 1

$40,000 - 559,999 2 2

Total number of members 5 6

The total remuneration received and receivable by those governing members was $156,000 (2024: $153,000) which
includes fringe benefits and superannuation contributions.

Income

Revenues from sales - timber products

2025 2024
$’000 $’'000
Revenue from log sales 12,872 17,201
Revenue from other timber sales - 1
Total revenues from sales - timber products 12,872 17,202

All revenue from timber product sales is revenue recognised from contracts with customers.

Income is recognised as performance obligations are met i.e. logs are delivered, or when ForestrySA realises its right
to income for customers not achieving their required monthly log purchase.

12



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

3.2

33

Revenues from SA Government

2025 2024

$'000 $'000
Revenues from SA Government
Community Service Obligation funding 4,156 4,042
Government Radio Network funding 490 474
Deferred revenues relating to CSO assets (1) 276 276
Giant Pine Scale reimbursement (1) 872
Net revenues from SA Government 4,921 5,664

(1) CSO funding used for capital expenditure is recognised in revenue over the life of the asset.

Revenues from SA Government comprise funding from the Department of Primary Industries and Regions (PIRSA) for

the operation of the Government Radio Network (GRN) and provision of Community Service Obligation (CSO)

activities, including native forest management, community use of forests, and community fire protection. There are

no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to this funding.

Remediation of Giant Pine Scale (GPS) infestations on Department for Environment and Water (DEW), SA Water and
Department for Trade and Investment (DTI) lands was undertaken in consultation with the land managers during
2023-24 to mitigate the bio security risk to ForestrySA plantations. Those land managers fully reimbursed ForestrySA

for expenses ($872k).

Interest revenue

2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Interest received 923 878
Total interest revenue 923 878

13



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

3.4 Net gain/(loss) from the disposal of property, plant and equipment

2025 2024
$’000 $’000
Land and buildings:
Proceeds from disposal B .
Less expenses on disposal 3 -
Less carrying amount of assets disposed = {2,218)
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of land and buildings - (2,218)
Plant and equipment:
Proceeds from disposal -
Less expenses on disposal
Less carrying amount of assets disposed (10) -
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of land and buildings (10) -
Roads and land improvements
Proceeds from disposal = =
Less expenses on disposal = -
Less carrying amount of assets disposed - (30)
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of roads and land improvements - (30)
Right of Use Assets
Proceeds from disposal - 88
Less expenses on disposal =
Less carrying amount of assets disposed . (98)
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of Right of Use Assets - (10)
Total assets:
Total proceeds from disposal - 88
Less expenses on disposal = =
Less total carrying amount of assets disposed (10) (2,346)
Total net gain (loss) from disposal of assets (10) (2,258)

Right of Use assets were no longer recognised under AASB 16 in line with SAFA and DTF advice on a change in the
treatment of leases to operating leases for light vehicles. 2024 losses relate to the divestment of forest reserve in the
Mid North region in accordance with the Mid North Forests Future Strategy - Land $2,218k roads and land
improvements $30k.

14



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

4.2

Employee remuneration

2025 2024
No No
The number of employees whose remuneration received or receivable falls within the
following bands:
$166,001 to $171,000 * <
$171,001 to $191,000 1
$191,001 to $211,000 1 -
$211,001 to $231,000 - 1
$231,001 to $251,000 1 -
3 3

Total number of employees

* This band has been included for the purpose of reporting comparative figures based on the executive base level

remuneration rate for 2023-24.

The total remuneration received by those employees for the year was $783,000 (2024: $727,000).

The table includes all employees whose normal remuneration was equal to or greater than the base executive

remuneration level during the year. Remuneration of employees reflects all costs of employment including salaries
and wages, payments in lieu of leave, superannuation contributions, salary sacrifice benefits and fringe benefits and
any fringe benefits tax paid or payable in respect of those benefits as well as any termination benefits for employees

who have left the ForestrySA.

Contractors

2025 2024

$'000 $'000
Log Harvesting 3,554 3,621
Log Transport 2,670 3,080
Inter Governmental 1,122 1,147
Project expenditure (1) - 865
Other Contractors 2,049 2,363
Total contractors 9,395 11,076

(1) Remediation of Giant Pine Scale (2024).

Inter Governmental contractors relate to the MoAA with Department for Environment & Water (DEW) for the sub-

contracting of land & fire management requirements in the Green Triangle region as part of the organisations
community fire protection program.

16



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

4.3

4.4

Expenditure — SA Business and Non-SA Business

The following table includes all expenditure in relation to contracts above $55,000 (GST inclusive) resulting from a
procurement as defined in Treasurer's Instructions 18 — Procurement (Tl 18). Arrangements between public
authorities and arrangements with other Governments are not included.

Expenditure is inclusive of non-recoverable GST.

2025 Proportion SA
$’000 and non-SA

Businesses
Total expenditure with South Australian businesses 9,819 97%
Total expenditure with non-South Australian businesses 317 3%
Total expenditure 10,136 100%

Classification as SA business or non-SA business is generally based on circumstances as at the time of entering into a
contract. For contracts entered into before 20 February 2023, where sufficient evidence of an assessment made
under previous procurement requirements is known to ForestrySA, this was used to determine classification. For
contracts where such evidence of prior assessment is not available and for all other contracts, classification is based
on the definition of an SA business provided in Tl 18.

Tl 18 defines a business as being South Australian where it operates in South Australia and more than 50% of the
workforce delivering the contract resulting from the procurement on behalf of the business are South Australian
residents.

The disclosure for expenditure with SA businesses reflects the total spent on contracts within the Tl 18 definition and
in some instances includes the cost of goods sourced from outside South Australia.

In many cases, the determination has been made on the basis of representations made by suppliers at a point in time
which has not been subject to independent verification.

Borrowing costs

2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1 7
Total borrowing costs 1 7

ForestrySA does not capitalise borrowing costs.

17



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

4,5 Other expenses

2025 2024

$’000 $'000
Consultants 43 30
Information and communications technology 486 553
Government Radio Network 490 474
Workers compensation (1,094) 181
Legal and professional fees 115 189
Utilities 127 109
Building and facility maintenance 253 221
Insurance 187 137
Sponsorship and membership fees 117 109
Employee related expenses 112 116
External audit fees 54 80
Bad & Doubtful Debts (11) -
Forest inventory, including tree measuring costs 90 89
GIS Services 129 75
Miscellaneous other costs 235 316
Total other expenses 1,333 2,677

External audit fees

Audit fees paid / payable to the Audit Office of South Australia relating to work performed under the Public Finance
and Audit Act 1987 were $54,400 (2024: 560,600). No other services were provided by the Audit Office of South
Australia.

18



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

4.6

5.1

5.2

Community projects

2025 2024
5’000 $’000
Bundaleer Picnic Grounds grant - 860
Total - 860

As part of the implementation of the SA Government’s Mid North Forests Future Strategy, at the end of the 2024
financial year ForestrySA provided funding of $860k to PIRSA for the Bundaleer Forest Community Areas Association
to fund water infrastructure, boundary fencing and amenity upgrades to the Bundaleer Picnic Grounds.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

2025 2024
$’000 $’'000
Deposits 1,881 6,886
Cash Management Fund 18,263 17,501
Total cash and cash equivalents 20,144 24,387

Deposits and cash management fund

Deposits include funds held with the commercial banks under the whole of SA Government banking agreement.
These funds are used for operational purposes in accordance with the Treasurer approval. Cash Management Fund
(CMF) deposits are lodged with SAFA and earn interest at the respective Cash Management Fund (CMF) rate.

Receivables
2025 2024
$’000 $’000
Current
Contractual receivables
Trade receivables - SA Gov 1,170 562
Trade receivables - Non SA Gov 2,417 1,815
Less impairment loss on receivables (19) (30)
Accrued revenue 58 63
Total contractual receivables 3,626 2,409
Prepayments 268 156
Total current receivables 3,894 2,565

All receivables are non-interest bearing. They are held with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows. Trade
receivables arise in the normal course of selling goods and services to other SA Government agencies and to the
public. Trade receivables are normally settled within 30 days after the issue of an invoice or the goods/services have
been provided under a contractual arrangement.

19



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

53

Other than as recognised in the allowance for impairment loss on receivables, it is anticipated that counterparties

will discharge their obligations. The carrying amount of receivables approximates net fair value due to being

receivable on demand. There is no concentration of credit risk.

Refer to note 10.2 for further information on risk management.

Receivables, prepayments and accrued revenues are non-interest bearing. Receivables are held with the objective of

collecting the contractual cash flows and they are measured at amortised cost.

Allowance for impairment loss on receivables 2025 2024
$’000 $'000
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 30 30
Increase / (Decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss (11) -
Carrying amount at the end of the period 19 30
All the above impairment losses are from receivables arising from contracts with customers and licences with
licensees.
Refer to note 10.2 for details regarding credit risk and the methodology for determining impairment.
Inventories
2025 2024
$’000 $’000
Current — held for distribution at no or nominal amount
Materials at cost 19 20
Total current inventories held for distribution at no or nominal amount 19 20
Current — held for sale
Materials at cost 52 182
Total current other inventories — other than those held for distribution at no or
nominal amount 52 182
Total inventories 71 202

Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at cost and adjusted when applicable
for any loss of service potential. Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost or their net realisable

value.

Cost for all other inventory is measured based on the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value is determined

using the estimated sales proceeds less costs incurred in marketing, selling and distribution to customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

5.4 Depreciation and amortisation

Useful life
Depreciation and amortisation are calculated on a straight-line basis. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets depreciation are calculated over the estimated useful life as follows:

Class of asset Useful life (years)
Buildings and structures 1-60

Plant and equipment 1-25

Right-of-use plant and equipment Lease term

Road and land improvements 1-25

Intangibles 1-3

Review of accounting estimates

Assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, on an
annual basis. Changes in the expected life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by changing the time period or method, as appropriate.

The span of useful lives of asset classes have been expanded to allow for the varying nature of assets held by the
organisation within each class of asset.

Depreciation and amortisation expenses are presented in the reconciliation tables in note 5.5 and note 5.8.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

5.5

Property, plant and equipment by asset class

Property, plant and equipment comprises tangible assets owned. The assets presented below do not meet the

definition of investment property.

Reconciliation 2024-25
Buildings Roads and Right of
and land Plant and use Work in
Land structures Upgrades equipment assets progress Total
$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Carrying amount at 1 July 2024 42,375 8,448 1,746 3,407 66 75 56,116
Additions 900 17 190 8 1,115
Disposals & derecognition - - - (10) (19) - (29)
Transfers between classes - 10 - 65 (75) -
Assets reclassified to/from - - - - - -
assets held for sale
Revaluation increments 2,555 - - - - 2,555
Revaluation decrements - - = g - -
Depreciation charge for the year - (564) (207) (443) (47) - (1,261)
Impairment - - - - - -
Carrying amount at 30 June 2025 45,829 7,910 1,729 3,019 - 8 58,495
Reconciliation 2023-24
Buildings Roads and Right of
and land Plant and use Work in
Land structures Upgrades equipment assets progress Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $°000 $’000 $’000
Carrying amount at 1 July 2023 39,627 4,521 1,551 2,507 280 898 49,384
Additions = 1,495 393 17 21 354 2,279
Disposals - - (30) - (98) - (129)
Transfers between classes - 279 109 789 (1,177) -
Assets reclassified to/from i i ) 81 i 81
assets held for sale
Revaluation increments 2,748 2,582 - 335 2 5,665
Revaluation decrements - . - - = =
Depreciation charge for the year - (429) (277) (322) (137) - (1,165}
Impairment - - - - -
Carrying amount at 30 June 2024 42,375 8,448 1,746 3,407 66 75 56,116
Gross Carrying Amount 45,829 9,536 4,714 5,922 - 8 66,010
Accumulated Depreciation - (1,627) (2,985) (2,903) - - (7,515)
Carrying amount 45,829 7,910 1,729 3,019 - 8 58,495
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5.6

5.7

Property, plant and equipment owned by ForestrySA

Praperty, plant and equipment owned by ForestrySA with a value equal to or in excess of $10,000 is capitalised,
otherwise it is expensed. Property, plant and equipment owned by ForestrySA is recorded at fair value. Detail about
ForestrySA’s approach to fair value is set outin note 10.1.

All non-current assets not held for sale with a limited useful life are systematically depreciated/amortised over their
useful lives in a2 manner that reflects the consumption of their service potential.

Impairment

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment is undertaken on a regular cycle as detailed in Note 10.1. If at any time
management considers that the carrying amount of an asset materially differs from its fair value, then the asset will
be revalued regardless of when the last valuation took place.

Property, plant and equipment leased by ForestrySA
Property, plant and equipment leased by ForestrySA Is recorded at cost.

Short-term leases of 12 months or less and low value leases where the underlying asset value is less than $15,000 are
not recognised as right-of-use assets. The associated lease payments are recoghised as an expense under equipment
and vehicle costs on the statement of comprehensive income,

ForestrySA has a limited number of leases:

. 18 motor vehicle leases with the South Australian Government Financing Authority (SAFA). Motor vehicle
leases are non-cancellable, with rental payments monthly in arrears. Motor vehicle lease terms can range from
2 years {(40,000km) up to 5 years (100,000km). No contingent rental provisions exist within the lease
agreements and no options exist to renew the leases at the end of their term.

In April 2025, SAFA changed the lease terms for all light vehicle leases. These changes eliminated the requirement to
recognise these leases under AASB 16 and all Right of Use assets related to these leases were derecognised.

The lease liabilities related to the right-of-use assets for prior year are disclosed in note 6.1, ForestrySA’s maturity

analysis of its lease liabilities is disclosed in note 10.2. Expenses related to leases, including depreciation and interest
expenses, are disclosed in note 5.5 and note 4.4. Cash outflows related to leases are disclosed in note 7.2.
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5.8 Intangible assets

Reconciliation 2024-25 Total

Carrying amount at 1 July 2024 B
Additions -
Amortisation charge for the year -
Carrying amount at 30 June 2025 -

Reconciliation 2023-24 Total
$'000
Carrying amount at 1 July 2023 4
Additions i
Amortisation charge for the year (4)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2024 -

Computer Computer
software software
2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Gross carrying amount 2,722 2,722
Accumulated amortisation (2,722) (2,722)

Total carrying amount = 5

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and are tested for indications of impairment at each reporting date.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

The acquisition of or internal development of software is capitalised only when the expenditure meets the definition
and recognition criteria and when the amount of expenditure is greater than or equal to $10,000.
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5.9

Forest assets

Forest assets are recorded at fair value. Detail about ForestrySA's approach to fair value is set out in note 10.1.

2025 2024
$’000 $’000
Current
Current portion of forest assets valuation 8,602 9,977
Total current forest assets 8,602 9,977
2025 2024
$’000 $’000
Non-current
Non-current portion of forest assets valuation 110,084 107,165
Total non-current forest assets 110,084 107,165
Reconciliation 2024-25 Total
$’000
Carrying amount at 1 July 2024 117,143
Other valuation (Impairment) in recorded in statement of comprehensive income 1,543
Movement in forest asset 1,543
Carrying amount at 30 June 2025 118,686
Reconciliation 2023-24 Total
$7000
Carrying amount at 1 July 2023 123,619
Other valuation (Impairment) in recorded in statement of comprehensive income (6,476)
Movement in forest asset (6,476)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2024 117,143

ForestrySA recognises the multiple rotation forest valuation, being $118.686m (2024: 5117.143m). More information

is provided at Note 10.1.
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6

6.1

6.2

Liabilities
Employee related liabilities are disclosed in note 6.3.

Financial liabilities

2025 2024
Note $’000 $'000
Current
Lease liabilities 5.7 - 61
Total current financial liabilities - 61
Non-current
Lease liahilities 5.7 - 24
Total non-current financial liabilities - 24
Total financial liabilities - 85
ForestrySA measures financial liabilities at amortised cost.
All lease liabilities relate to right-of-use vehicle assets.
Payables
2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Current
Contractual payables
Trade payables 675 3,228
Accrued expenses 16 67
Other Payables 29 13
Statutory payables
Accrued expenses 80 107
GST payable 104 119
Total current payables 904 3,534

Payables and accrued expenses are recognised for all amounts owing but unpaid. All payables are non-interest
bearing.

Contractual Payables

Contractual payables are normally settled within 15 days from the date the invoice is first received.

Statutory Payables

Statutory payables do not arise from contracts. Statutory payables include government taxes and equivalents as well
as statutory fees and charges.

The net amount of GST payable to the ATO is included as part of statutory payables.
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6.3 Employee related liabilities

2025 2024

$’000 $'000
Current
Accrued salaries and wages 50 11
Annual leave 322 296
Long service leave 62 120
Skills and experience retention leave 9 15
Employment on-costs 93 82
Total current employee related liabilities 536 524
Non-current
Long service leave 808 707
Employment on-costs 61 57
Total non-current employee related libilities 869 764
Total employee benefits 1,405 1,288

Employee related liabilities are accrued as a result of services provided up to the reporting date that remain unpaid.
Apart from long service leave liability, employee related liabilities are measured at nominal amounts.

Salaries and wages, annual leave, skills and experience retention leave (SERL) and sick leave
The liability for salary and wages is measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at current remuneration
rates at the reporting date.

The annual leave liability and the SERL liability are expected to be paid within 12 months and are measured at the
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave taken in future
years by employees is estimated to be less than the annual entitlement for sick leave.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit
method. The expected timing and amount of long service leave payments is determined through whole-of-
government actuarial calculations, which are based on actuarial assumptions on expected future salary and wage
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. These assumptions are based on employee data
over SA Government entities.

The discount rate used in measuring the liability is reflective of the yield on long-term Commonwealth Government
bonds. The yield on long-term Commonwealth Government bonds has remained unchanged from 2024 (4.25%) to
2025 (4.25%).
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The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance left the salary inflation rate ata
3.5% for long service leave liahility. As a result, there is no net financial effect resulting from changes in the salary
inflation rate.

The current portion of employee related liabilities reflects the amount for which the department does not have right

to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. For long service leave, the amount relates to leave
approved before year end that will be taken within 12 months, expected amount of leave to be approved and taken |
by eligible employees within 12 months, and expected amount of leave to be paid on termination to eligible

employees within 12 months.

Employment on-costs liabilities

Employment on-costs liabilities include payroll tax, Fringe Benefits Tax, Pay As You Go Withholding, ReturnToWorkSA
levies and superannuation contributions. They are settled when the respective employee benefits that they relate to
are discharged. These on-costs liabilities primarily relate to the balance of leave owing to employees. The estimated
proportion of long service leave to be taken as leave, rather than to be paid on termination, affects the amount of on-
costs liabilities recognised as a consequence of long service leave liabilities.

ForestrySA contributes to State Government and externally managed superannuation schemes. These contributions
are treated as an expense when they occur. There are no liabilities for payments to beneficiaries as they have been
assumed by the respective superannuation schemes. The only liability cutstanding at reporting date relates to any
contributions due but not yet paid to Superannuation funds.

As a result of an actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance, the proportion of long
service leave taken as leave is 44% (2024: 44%). The factor for the calculation of employer superannuation on-costs is
12.0% (2024; 11.5%). These rates are used in the employment on-cost calculation. The net financial effect of the
changes in the current financial year is immaterial. The impact on future periods is impracticable to estimate.
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6.4

Other provisions

Movement in provisions 2025
$’000
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 1,499
Remeasurement of workers compensation provision (1,138)
Tax equivalent liability 242
Carrying amount at the end of the period 603
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
Current
Provision for workers compensation 42 113
Tax equivalent liability 242 -
Total current provisions 284 113
Non-current
Provision for workers compensation 319 1,386
Total non-current provisions 319 1,386
Total provisions 603 1,499

A provision has been reported to reflect unsettled workers compensation claims. The workers compensation

provision is based on actuarial assessment of the outstanding liability as at 30 June 2025 provided by a consulting
actuary engaged through the Office of the Commissioner for Public Sector Employment. The provision is for the

estimated cost of ongoing payments to employees as required under current legislation. The movement in the
provision has been recorded as an expense and is disclosed in Note 4.5.

ForestrySA is responsible for payment of workers compensation claims.
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6.5

7.1

Other liabilities

2025 2024
$'000 $’000
Current
Unearned revenue 479 464
Total current other liabilities 479 464
Non-current
Unearned revenue 1,917 2,222
Total non-current other liabilities 1,917 2,222
Total other liabilities 2,396 2,686

ForestrySA has leases and licences for which payment has been received in advance.

Projects funded via the CSO and later capitalised have a corresponding unearned revenue amount recognised in the
accounts. This is recognised in income over the life of the asset in line with it's depreciation.

Other disclosures

Equity

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of property and plant and
equipment to the extent that they offset one another. Relevant amounts are transferred to retained earnings when
an asset is derecognised.

The forest assets reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of forest assets. A gain or loss

arising on initial recognition of a biological asset at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in fair value less
costs to sell of a biological asset shall be included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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7.2 Cash flow

Cash flow reconciliation 2025 2024
$’000 $'000
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (3,062) 7,619
Add/less non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense of non-current assets (1,261) (1,169)
Gain/(loss) on sale or disposal of non-current assets (10) (2,258)
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of forest assets 1,543 (6,476)
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of other non current assets - 335
Movement in assets and liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in receivables 1,330 301
Increase/(decrease) in inventories (131) 139
Increase/(decrease) in other assets - (86)
(Increase)/decrease in payables 2,629 (2,576)
(Increase)/decrease in employee related liabilities (117) (214)
{Increase)/decrease in provisions 896 (152)
(Increase)/decrease in other liabilities 291 (1,583)
Profit/loss after income tax equivalent 2,108 (6,119)
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8

Changes in accounting policy

No material accounting policy changes were made in the period
Outlook

Unrecognised commitments

Commitments include operating, capital and outsourcing arrangements arising from contractual or statutory sources
and are disclosed at their nominal value.

Capital commitments 2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Within one year 900 -
Later than one year but not longer than five years = z
Total capital commitments 900 -

ForestrySA has entered into an agreement to purchase a log harvester which will be paid for in July 2025.

Expenditure commitments 2025 2024
$'000 $'000
Within one year 8,421 8,101
Later than one year but not longer than five years 9,619 18,040
Total expenditure commitments 18,040 26,141

ForestrySA’s contracting commitment include agreements for the harvesting and transport of log and associated
logistics.

ForestrySA has also entered into supply agreements to sell timber that is harvested. The terms and conditions of
these agreements vary.

Lease receivable commitments 2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date but not

recognised as receivables are as follows:

Within one year 131 275
Later than one year but not longer than five years 61 190
Total lease receivable commitments 192 465

Lease receivable commitments relate to the office building located in Mt Gambier where space is leased from
ForestrySA.
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9.2

9.3

9.4

10

10.1

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, but are
disclosed by way of a note and, if gquantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

ForestrySA has contingent assets in the form of bank guarantees issued by various banks for ForestrySA customers,

ForestrySA and the SA Superannuation Board entered an arrangement at the time of incorporation of ForestrySA to
allow officers and employees of ForestrySA who were immediately before incorporation of ForesirySA contributors
to the State Superannuation Scheme, to remain contributors under the Superannuation Act 1988.

Impact of standards not yet effective
ForestrySA has assessed the impact of new and changed Australian Accounting Standards Board Standards and
Interpretations not yet effective and has assessed there will be no impact on ForestrySA.

Events after the reporting period

As a profit was achieved as at 30 June and in line with the performance statement the Board has resolved to
recommend to the Treasurer that a dividend of $564k is paid. As a dividend had not been approved at the end of the
reporting period this has not heen brought to account in the current report in accordance with AASB 110.

Measurement and risk

Fair value

AASB 13 Foir Value Measurement defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, in the principal or most advantageous
market, at the measurement date.

Initial recognition
Non-current tangible assets are initially recorded at cost or at the value of any liabilities assumed, plus any incidental
cost involved with the acquisition.

Where assets are acquired at significantly less than falr value, they are recorded at fair value in the Statement of
Financial Position, However, if the assets are acquired at significantly less than fair value as part of a restructure of
administrative arrangements, then the assets are recognised at book value (i.e. the amount recorded by the
transferor public authority Immediately prior to the restructure).

Revaluation
Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value after allowing for accumulated depreciation.

The revaluation process is reviewed by the Chief Finance Officer and Audit and Risk Committee as required.

Non-current tangible assets are valued at fair value and revaluation of non-current assets or a group of assets is only
performed when fair value at the time of acquisition is greater than $1.5 million and estimated useful life is greater
than three years.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the
assets and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts of the asset.
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Fair value hierarchy

ForestrySA classifies fair value measurement using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of

the inputs used in making the measurements, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent

o Level 1 —traded in active markets and is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the entity can access at measurement date.

o Level 2 — not traded in an active market and are derived from inputs (inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1) that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.

. Level 3 — not traded in an active market and are derived from unobservable inputs.

ForestrySA’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting

During 2025 and 2024, ForestrySA had no valuations categorised into level 1; there were no transfers of assets
between level 1 and 2 fair value hierarchy levels and there were no changes in valuation technigue.

Fair value classification — non-financial assets at 30 June 2025

Level 2 Level 3 Total
Note $'000 $’000 $’000
Recurring fair value measurements
Forest assets 5.9 - 118,686 118,686
Land 5.5 45,829 - 45,829
Buildings and structures 5.5 - 7,910 7,910
Roads and land improvements 5.5 - 1,729 1,729
Plant and equipment 5.5 - 3,019 3,019
Total recurring fair value measurements 45,829 131,344 177,173
Fair value classification — non-financial assets at 30 June 2024
Level 2 Level 3 Total
Note $’000 $'000 $'000
Recurring fair value measurements
Forest assets 5.9 - 117,143 117,143
Land 5.5 42,375 - 42,375
Buildings and structures 5.5 - 8,448 8,448
Roads and land improvements 5.5 - 1,746 1,746
Plant and equipment 55 - 3,407 3,407
Total recurring fair value measurements 42,375 130,743 173,118
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Forest assets
ForestrySA engaged Indufor to establish the valuation for its plantation estate in the Mt Lofty Ranges as at 30 June
2025.

Indufor has adopted the market based valuation approach which involves a combination of the sales comparison
method and income approach under a discounted cash flow framework. The discount rate applied by Indufor to the
projected cash flows was 8.0% (2024:8.0%). The cash flows are those for multiple rotations extending across a 60-
year period.

This value opinion is considered to be compliant with Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 141 Agriculture
and [nternational Accounting Standards (IAS) 41 Agriculture, AASB 13 and International Financial Reporting Standards
{[FRS) 13 Fair Value Measurement and Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 2018-19 (USPAP) market
value. This value assumes that the asset will have received full exposure to the market over a period of one year.

Significant unobservable inputs

- Growth and yield.

- Forest management, production, sales, general, and administration costs.

- Log and wood products markets and prices.

- Discount rate calculation - evidence based and thearetical costs of capital.

- Annual harvest volume {165,000 - 218,000 m3, weighted average 120,000 m3).

For forest valuation purposes land is excluded because it is not freehold land and cannot be traded in an ocpen and
competitive market. It is reserved by the state in perpetuity for production forestry or public reserve as Crown land,
thereby negating any fair market value. No notional land rental has been applied.

The difference between the fair value of Forest Assets held at the reporting date and the fair value at the previous
reporting date is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as the net change in the value of Forest
Assets. All forest expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year it is incurred. The change in value is also
disclosed in note 5.9.

The net change in the value of Forest Assets is accounted for in the Forest Assets reserve which is used to store the
change in the value of the forest asset,
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Sensitivity analysis for forest assets
The effects of modifying a range of input variables is demonstrated in this sensitivity analysis:

Factor level* 90% 95% 100% 105% 110%
AUD million
Revenue 92,503 105,595 118,686 131,777 144,869
Production Costs 125,974 122,330 118,686 115,042 111,398
Transport Costs 122,890 120,788 118,686 116,584 114,482
Operational Expenditure 119,669 119,178 118,686 118,194 117,703
SG&A Expenditure 120,525 119,605 118,686 117,767 116,847
7.50% 7.75% 8.00% 8.25% 8.50%
Discount Rate 127,274 122,834 118,686 114,804 111,164
Land

An independent valuation of land owned by ForestrySA was performed by a Certified Practising Valuer from the State
Valuation Office, as at 30 June 2025.

Fair value of land has been determined using the market approach. Relevant general and economic factors were
considered in arriving at a value opinion, including investigation of recent sales of comparable properties. Discounts
by region were applied to reflect restrictions on potential highest and best use imposed by legislation on land
operated by ForestrySA. The discount rates used this year are Mount Lofty Ranges 60% (2024: 60%) and Green
Triangle 45% (2024: 45%).

Buildings and structures

At least every five years, an independent valuation appraisal of ForestrySA’s buildings and structures will be
performed. However, if at any time management considers that the carrying amount of an asset class materially
differs from its fair value, then the asset class will be revalued regardless of when the last valuation took place.
ForestrySA undertook an independent valuation appraisal of its buildings and structures in June 2024. Refer note 5.5.

Plant and equipment

All items of plant and equipment owned by ForestrySA had a fair value at the time of acquisition less than $1.5
million or had an estimated useful life less than three years. Plant and equipment has not been revalued in
accordance with APS 116.D. The carrying value of the remaining items of plant and equipment are deemed to
approximate fair value.
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Reconciliation of level 3 recurring fair value measurements as at 30 June 2025
The following table is a reconciliation of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3),

Forest Buildings and RITdiE atil Plant and
assets structures i equipment
upgrades

$'000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Opening balance at the beginning of the period 117,143 8,448 1,746 3,407
Acquisitions - 17 190 -
Disposals - - - (10)
Assets reclassified to or out of assets held for sale - B -
Transfers within asset classes - 10 - 65
Gains/(Losses) for the period recognised in net result:
Revaluation increment / (decrement) 1,543 - - -
Depreciation - (564) (207) (443)
Total gains/(losses) recognised in net result 1,543 (538) (17) (388)
Carrying amount at the end of the period 118,686 7,910 1,729 3,019
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - -
Total gains/(losses) recognised in OCI - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of the period 118,686 7,910 1,729 3,019

Reconciliation of level 3 recurring fair value measurements as at 30 June 2024
The following table is a reconciliation of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3).

Forest  Buildings and AR Plant and
assets structures lans equipment
upgrades

$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance at the beginning of the period 123,619 4,521 1,551 2,507
Acquisitions - 1,495 393 17
Disposals - - (30) -
Assets reclassified to or out of assets held for sale - - - 81
Transfers within asset classes = 279 109 789
Gains/(Losses) for the period recognised in net result:
Revaluation increment / (decrement) (6,476) 2,582 - 335
Depreciation & impairment - (429) (277) (322)
Total gains/(losses) recognised in net result (6,476) 3,927 195 900
Carrying amount at the end of the period 117,143 8,448 1,746 3,407

ForestrySA’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting
period.
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10.2 Financial instruments

Financial risk management

Risk management is managed by ForestrySA's corporate services section. ForestrySA's risk management policies are
in accordance with the SA Government Risk Management Guide and the principles established in the Australian
Standard Risk Management Principles and Guidelines.

Forestry SA's exposure to financial risk (liquidity risk, credit risk, and market risk} is low due to the nature of the
financial instruments held.

Liguidity risk
ForestrySA maintains a strong working capital position so current liguidity risk is low.

Credit risk
ForestrySA has policies and procedures in place to ensure that transactions occur with customers with appropriate
credit history.

Bank guarantees or cash deposits are obtained for specific customers.

Impairment of financial assets

Loss allowances for receivables are measured at an amount equal to lifetime Expected Credit Loss (ECL) using the
simplified approach in AASB 9. ForestrySA uses an allowance matrix to measure the expected credit loss of
receivables from non-SA Government debtors which comprise a small number of large balances and a few small
balances.

To measure the expected credit losses, receivables are grouped based on shared risk characteristics and the days
past due. When estimating expected credit oss, ForestrySA considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost of effort, This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on ForestrySA’s historical experience and informed credit assessment, including forward-looking
information.

The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over
which ForestrySA is exposed to credit risk.

The expected credit loss of SA Government debtors is nil based on the external credit ratings and nature of the
counterparties.

Loss rates are calculated based on the probability of a receivable progressing through stages to write off based on
the common risk characteristics of the transaction and debtor.
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The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for non-SA Government debtors.

Bebtaranseeured Lifetime expected

carrvi;go ;g\ount Loss % losses $'000
Current (non past due) 56 0.00% -
1-30 days past due 49 0.00% -
31-60 days past due 0 100.00%
61-90 days past due 0 100.00%
90+ days past due 19 100.00% 19
Loss allowance 19

Impairment losses are presented as net impairment losses within net result; subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

ForestrySA considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk due to financial security held for
customers with material contracts.

The allowance is recognised when there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. The allowance for
impairment is recognised in other expenses for specific debtors and debtors assessed on a collective basis for which
such evidence existed.

Cash and debt investments

ForestrySA considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of
the counterparties and therefore the expected credit loss is nil.

39



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Market risk

ForestrySA does not trade in foreign currency, nor enter into transactions for speculative purposes, nor for hedging.
ForestrySA does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest or foreign currency risk and manages its risk as per
the government’s risk management strategy articulated in TI 23 Management of Foreign Currency Exposures.

Exposure to interest rate risk may arise through its interest bearing liahilities, including borrowings. The South
Australian Forestry Corporation’s interest bearing liabilities are managed through the South Australian Government
Financing Authority (SAFA) and any movement in interest rates are monitored on a daily basis. There is no exposure
to foreign currency or other price risks,

Some forest product sales are made to customers with exposure to international market risks including foreign
currencies, hence ForestrySA maintains a level of market risk related to its core business of forest product sales.

There have been no changes in risk exposure since the last reporting period.

Cateporisation of financial instruments

Details of the material accounting policy infermation and methods adopted including the criteria for recognition, the
basis of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised with respect to each class of
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in the respective financial asset note and
financial liability note.
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Classification of financial instruments

ForestrySA measures all financial instruments at amortised cost.

2025 -
Contractual maturities *
Carrying
i X . . amount / Within 1 year  1-5 years Wiore:than >
Category of financial asset and financial Fair value years
liability Note ($'000) ($’000) ($’000) ($7000)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 54 20,144 n/a n/a n/a
Financial assets at amortised cost
Receivables ** 5.2 3,626 3,626 - -
Total financial assets 23,770 3,626 - -
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Payables ** 6.2 717 717 - -
Lease liabilities 6.1 - -
Total financial liabilities 717 717 - -
2024
2024 Contractual maturities *
Carrying
. i . ’ arrllount / Within 1 year  1-5years M s 3
Category of financial asset and financial Fair value years
liability Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 5.1 24,387 n/a n/a n/a
Financial assets at amortised cost
Receivables ** 5.2 2,409 2,409 -
Total financial assets 26,796 2,409 - -
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Payables ** 6.2 3,328 3,328 - -
Lease liabilities 6.1 85 61 24 -
Total financial liabilities 3,413 3,389 24 -

*Maturities analysis is presented using the undiscounted cash flows and therefore may not total to equal the

carrying amount/fair value of the financial instrument.

** Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts. Receivables do not include prepayments as these are

not financial instruments.
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